A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

John Marcum, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this 

Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating 

review designated in Part B of this petition pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(l) 

and RAP 13 .4(b ). 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Marcum seeks review of the published Court of Appeals 

decision dated October 13,2015, a copy of which is attached as 

Appendix A. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. John Marcum successfully achieved "maximum benefit" the 

sex offender treatment program at the Special Commitment Center 

(SCC). But he was denied a trial on the legality of his confinement 

because after his condition changed due to treatment success, he was 

transfen·ed to the SCC's marginally less restrictive neighbor, the Secure 

Community Transition Facility {SCTF). His SCTF placement was 

revoked for reasons unrelated to his ability to manage his sexual 

behavior. In a novel interpretation of the requirements ofRCW 

71.09.090(4), two Court of Appeals judges ruled that the necessary 

"change" in condition entitling a person to a trial on his continued total 



confinement must occur after the revocation of a less restrictive 

alternative (LRA) not change that occurred before the LRA. A third 

Court of Appeals judge disagreed, noting Court of Appeals decisions 

that did not adopt this statutory construction. Should this Court review 

the published, divided Court of Appeals opinion that places a novel and 

restrictive construction on the statute controlling when an indefinitely 

committed person makes the necessary threshold showing entitling him 

to a trial on his continued confinement? 

2. The federal and state constitutions bar the State from 

continuing an involuntary commitment absent proof of current mental 

illness and present dangerousness due to that psychological disorder. 

Does Mr. Marcum's continued detention violate these constitutional 

provisions when there is clear evidence from a qualified expert Mr. 

Marcum does not have a psychological disorder that causes him to be 

presently dangerous, and the State's evaluator a!:,rrees that release from 

total confinement is appropriate? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

John Marcum willingly and successfully participated in the 

state's sex offender treatment program for many years. both before he 

stipulated to civil commitment and after the commitment order was 
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entered. CP 30, 38. As a result, he achieved "maximum benefit from 

inpatient treatment," according to the State's evaluator Dr. Regina 

Harrington. CP 23. Psychologist Dr. Paul Spizman agreed in a detailed 

evaluation describing Mr. Marcum's learned behavioral control and 

ability to apply the skills he gained from treatment. CP 35, 45-46, 55. 

In 2013, Mr. Marcum sought a new trial on whether he still met 

the criteria for total confinement. He offered evidence he had 

successful1y changed through treatment, which meets the necessary 

threshold under RCW 71.09.090(4)(b)(i). The Court of Appeals did not 

dispute the adequacy of his showing meeting the threshold tor a new 

trial but it ruled he was not entitled to a new trial based on its novel 

parsing ofRCW 71.09.090(4)(a). 

The factual basis ofthe ruling stems from several years earlier, 

where due to Mr. Marcum's years of treatment progress and behavioral 

control, the State transferred him from the total confinement setting of 

the Special Commitment Center (SCC) to the Secured Commw1ity 

Treatment Facility (SCTF). Both buildings are operated by the State at 

the same location on McNeil Island. but the SCTF is designed as a first 

step toward tr·ansition into the community. CP 103-05. A formal 

transfer of residence from SCC to SCTF is considered to be a less 
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restrictive alternative (LRA) and to succeed at the SCTF, a person must 

comply with a new set of rules, including maintaining employment. CP 

105-08. The SCTF is surrounded by a tall chain link fence and affords 

little freedom of movement. CP 104. 

After Mr. Marcum was transferred to the SCTF. he grew 

depressed and was not taking his antidepressant medications. He was 

upset that the jobs available paid meager wages of one to three dollars. 

far below minimum wage, and he was required to pay the cost of care 

from that minimal sum as well as save money for future release. CP 

122, 127. He gained weight and had trouble getting out of bed. CP 122-

23. But Mr. Marcum continued to participate in treatment while at the 

SCTF. CP 126. 

Mr. Marcum ultimately decided that he was not benefitting from 

the SCTF and he did not contest the revocation of the LRA order so 

that he could return to the SCC. CP 131. Upon returning to SCC, he 

lost the weight he gained at the SCTF, took his antidepressant 

medication, and resumed his good behavior. He did not ref,JTess, despite 

this setback. CP 17. However. because he had already achieved 

maximum benefit from the basic treatment program available at the 

SCC, he did not participate in the program offered at the SCC. CP 51. 
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In 2013, he sought a trial on the legality of his continued 

confinement at issue in this appeal. Both the State's evaluator and the 

evaluator he retained agreed that he had significant control over his 

behavior as well as his thought process. The only treatment the State's 

evaluator suggested was in transitioning to the community, not in 

further participating in the phases of the basic program from which Mr. 

Marcum had completed. CP 23-24. 

The trial court denied Mr. Marcum a new trial. CP 77-78. The 

Court of Appeals affirmed in a divided opinion. App. A. 

E. ARGU1v1ENT 

1. In a published opinion, two Court of Appeals 
judges absurdly parse the governing statute to 
deny a new trial to a person even when the State 
agrees he has achieved maximum success in the 
State's treatment program 

a. Indefinite civil commitment under RCW 71.09 is a 
massive curtailment of liberty that is constitutional onzv 
(f the accused person remains current(v dangerous due to 
a mental illness. 

Due to the massive curtailment ofliberty following indefinite 

civil commitment, release upon a showing that the person no longer 

meets the requirements of commitment is a necessary aspect of due 

process, codified in RCW 71.09.090. Foucha v. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 
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77, 112 S.Ct. 1780, 118 L.Ed.2d 437 (1992); In re Detention ofYoung, 

122 Wn.2d 1, 38-39,857 P.2d 396 (1993); U.S. Const. amend. 14; 

Canst. art. I,§ 3. "Periodic review ofthepatient's suitability for 

release" is required to render commitment constitutional. Jones v. 

United States, 463 U.S. 354, 368, 103 S.Ct. 3043, 77 L.Ed.2d 3043 

(1984). Due process mandates that the State release a committed person 

"when the basis for holding him or her in the psychiatric facility 

disappears." Statev. Sommerville, 86 Wn.App. 700.710, 937 P.2d 1317 

(1997). 

Because indefinite commitment is a massive curtailment of 

liberty, this Court "must narrowly construe" the statute authorizing on

going confinement under the doctrine oflenity. In re Det. ofHarvkins, 

169 Wn.2d 796, 801,238 P.3d 1175 (2010). 

RCW 71.09.090 provides that the superior court must grant a 

trial on the legality of a person's continued involuntary commitment if 

tht::re is probable cause to believe the person's condition has so 

changed that he no longer meets the "the definition of a sexually violent 

predator." RCW 71.09.090 (2)(c). RCW 71.09.090(4)(b) further 

provides: 
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(b) A new trial proceeding under subsection (3) ofthis 
section may be ordered, or a trial proceeding may be 
held, only when there is current evidence from a licensed 
professional of one of the following and the evidence 
presents a change in condition since the person's last 
commitment trial proceeding: 

(i) An identified physiological change to the person, 
such as paralysis, stroke, or dementia, that renders the 
committed person unable to commit a sexually violent 
act and this change is permanent; or 

(ii) A change in the person's mental condition brought 
about through positive response to continuing 
participation in treatment which indicates that the person 
meets the standard for conditional release to a Jess 
restrictive alternative or that the person would be safe to 

be at large if unconditional1y released from commitment. 

A person makes "the requisite prima facie showing" for a full 

evidentiary hearing under RCW 71.09.090 (4) when a qualified expert 

indicates that the confined person "no longer meets the definition of an 

SVP, and because he stated that this change was due to treatment." In 

re Det. o.f Ambers, 160 Wn.2d 543, 557-59, 158 P.3d 1144 (2007). 

Mr. Marcum made the necessary showing, without dispute. The 

Court of Appeals did not question the sufficiency of Mr. Marcum's 

current evidence from a qualified professional that "since [Mr. 

Marcum's] is last commitment trial proceeding" there has been a 

"change in [his] mental condition brought about through positive 

7 



response to continuing participation in treatment" which entitles him to 

either a less restrictive alternative release or release into the 

community. RCW 71.09.090(4)(b)(ii). Because he made this showing, 

he is entitled to a trial on whether the State has authoritY to continue his 

involuntary confinement. 

But the Court of Appeals majority ruled that even if Mr. 

Marcum satisfied RCW 71.09.090(4)(b), he is not entitled to a new 

trial. It reached this conclusion by reading into the plain language of 

RCW 71.09.090(4)(b), an additional requirement that it culled from 

language in RCW 71.09.090(4)(a). It ruled that even though RCW 

71.09.090(b) states the change in a person's mental condition must 

occur from the last commitment trial, they meant that the change must 

have occurred after the revocation of a less restrictive alternative is 

such a proceeding occurred. 

RCW 71.09.090(4)(a) provides: 

Probable cause exists to believe that a person's condition 
has "'so changed," under subsection (2) ofthis section, 
only when evidence exists, since the person's last 
commitment trial, or less restrictive alternative 
revocation proceeding, of a substantial change in the 
person's physical or mental condition such that the 
person either no longer meets the definition of a sexually 
violent predator or that a conditional release to a less 
restrictive alternative is in the person's best interest and 
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conditions can be imposed to adequately protect the 
community. 

b. The two-judge majority relied on a strained and 
counterproductive reading o.fzhe statutory scheme and is 
contrary: to another Court ofAppeals opinion. 

Similarly to Mr. Marcum's case. In re Det. ofJones. 149 

Wn.App. 16, 20,201 P.3d 1066 (2009), involved an annual review 

appeal from a petitioner who had been given an LRA but that LRA was 

revoked. The State argued that his request further relief on annual 

review must be measured by his showing of change occurring after his 

LRA revocation, and from his original commitment. ld. at 30. The 

Court of Appeals rejected this argument because "commitment status is 

not at issue in an LRA revocation hearing." !d. An LRA may be 

revoked for myriad reasons that do not bear on or alter a person's 

commitment. See also In re Det. of Bergen, 146 Wn.App. 515, 533, 195 

P.3d 529 (2008) (similarly distinguishing different considerations that 

apply for LRAs as opposed to unconditional release). 

Plain lant,JUage in a statute is not subject to construction. Courts 

must "assume the legislature means exactly what it says." State v. 

Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727-28, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). The operative 

provision ofRCW 71.09.090{4)(b) defines the necessary evidentiary 
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showing for a new trial as "a change in condition since the person's last 

commitment trial proceeding." This language is plain. 

The Court of Appeals erroneously determined the Legislature 

did not mean what it said, and it instead meant the change must have 

occurred after the last LRA revocation proceeding. This parsing of the 

statute is improper because the language is plain. 

The majority's construction of the statute will discourage people 

who have made substantial change over long periods of time from 

taking part in LRAs, which is contrary to legislative intent. If a person 

has achieved maximum benefit from treatmen1 in the SCC's program, 

he will not want to try an LRA out of fear that if it is revoked, he will 

need to show an impossible level of change to ever obtain an 

unconditional release trial. LRAs may serve a valuable tool in 

transitioning a person out of total confinement but if the statutory 

release scheme penalizes a person who tries an LRA but fails to 

succeed in it, then the state has created a disincentive to participate in it. 

It also could result in the absurd situation that a person who no longer 

meets the criteria for commitment before getting a LRA, but who 

violates LRA rules like trading candy for a cigarette, cannot obtain an 

unconditional release trial by virtue of the change that occurred before 

10 



the LRA, thus "one who is no longer a sexually violent predator 

remains confmed against his will." Op. at 27 {dissent). 

The intent of the statute is not to prohibit trials for people whose 

mental conditions have changed due to treatment success. The 

revocation of an LRA may occur for many reasons that have nothing to 

.do with treatment success, such as Mr. Marcum who lost his motivation 

while at the sec because of issues with depression, and not because he 

does not have control over the behavior that led to his commission of 

sexual offenses years earlier. 

The dissenting judge in the Court of Appeals explained that 

some change is required to obtain a trial, but it makes sense only if the 

change required for an unconditional release trial is change from the 

last commitment trial, and change is measured from the LRA 

revocation if a new LRA is sought. Op. at 22-23 (dissent). The dissent 

acknowledges that many other provisions in RCW 71.09.090 expressly 

use different standards based on whether a person should receive a 

LRA or unconditional release. Jd. at 24; RCW 71.09.090{1), (2). A 

request for a LRA is different from a request for unconditional release 

and therefore, different points in time are relevant to measure whether a 

person has changed. Id. at 25. 
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The published Court of Appeals decision is contrary to the 

reasonable construction of the same language in Jones and to 

established principles of statutory construction, and leads to absurd 

results. This Court should grant review. 

2. The Court of Appeals used its novel 
construction of the statute as an excuse to 
weigh evidence, which is prohibited in the 
mandatory prima facie evidence review 
required in a show cause hearing. 

Dr. Spizman concluded that Mr. Marcum had changed due to his 

successful participation in sex-offender specific treatment. CP 73-74. 

From treatment, Mr. Marcum learned how to regulate his behavior as 

well as his thoughts and urges by a variety of treatment tools and 

lessons. CP 45-46, 55, 58. In addition to his observable behavioral 

management, his ''notable gains in learning to control his sexual 

orientation toward children, via his efforts in treatment" have been 

demonstrated in physiological testing. CP 58. 

At the probable cause stage, Mr. Marcum merely needs to 

present an objectively reasonable claim offered by a qualified 

professional that he has changed through treatment. In re Del. of 

Ambers, 160 Wn.2d 543, 558, 158 P.3d 1144 (2007). Dr. Spizman's 

conclusion was based on his professional discretion and satisfies the 
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prima facie burden set forth under RCW 71.09.090. See State v. 

Petersen, 145 Wn.2d 789, 803·04, 42 P.3d 952 (2002). He presented 

evidence "'which, ifbelieved," showed he was not likely to engage in 

sexually dangerous acts due to a mental abnormality if released. Jd. at 

803. 

At the probable cause stage, "[a] court may not weigh the 

evidence in determining whether probable cause exists." In re Det. of 

Elmore, 162 Wn.2d 2 7, 3 7, 168 P .3d 1285 (2007); see In re Det. of 

McCuistion.174 Wn.2d 369,382,275 P.3d 1092 (2012) (at probable 

cause stage, "a court must assume the truth of the evidence presented; it 

may not 'weigh and measure asserted facts against potentially 

competing ones."'). "A trial court necessarily abuses its discretion if it 

bases its ruling on an erroneous view of the law.'' State v. Han·ill, 169 

Wn.2d 254, 259, 234 P.3d 1166 (2010). 

The court misapplied the law by failing to credit Dr. Spizman's 

opinion. Ambers, 160 Wn.2d at 557-58; Petersen, 145 Wn.2d at 803 

(court's impression of psychologist's report irrelevant when probable 

cause asks court only to determine what expert stated, not why). The 

court is not permitted to weigh what evidence Dr. Spizrnan relied on 

and whether it was sufficiently current when Dr. Spizman opined that it 
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was based on a current assessment of Mr. Marcum's condition. The 

judge is not free to disregard the qualified expert's opinion and must 

accord Mr. Marcum a new trial. 

3. When the State's evaluator believes the detained 
person does not need total confinement, it has not 
met its prima facie burden that commitment 
remains justified due to a psychological disorder 
causing current dangerousness. 

The State violates due process when it continues to confine a 

person who is no longer either mentaUy ill or dangerous. Fouclza, 504 

U.S. at 77. "Because SVP commitment is indefinite, the due process 

requirement that a detainee be mentally ill and dangerous is ongoing." 

In re Det. of Cherry, 166 Wn.App. 70, 75,271 P.3d 259 (2011). lfthe 

State's own designee finds that .. the individual no longer meets the 

criteria for confinement, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing." 

1\.fcCuistion 174 Wn.2d at 393. 

\\1len evaluating the State's report, the court must "look at the 

facts wntained in the [annual review] report to decide whether they 

support the expert's conclusions." In re the Detention of Jacobson, 120