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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only: 

( 1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution 
of the State of Washington or of the United States is 
involved; or 

( 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme 
Court. 

RAP 13.4(b). The trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly 

interpreted the plain language of RCW 71.09.090 and concluded that 
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Marcum's evidence failed to meet the statutory standard for a new trial. 

Moreover, the State presented ample evidence that Marcum's mental 

condition continued to make him likely to reoffend. Marcum has not 

established a basis for review of either issue. This Court should deny 

review. 

A. Statutory Framework: Annual Review Show Cause Hearing 

1. Overview and Standard of Proof 

An individual determined to be an SVP1 is committed to the 

custody of DSHS for control, care, and treatment in a secure facility until: 

(1) the person's condition has so changed that he no longer meets the 

definition of an SVP; or (b) conditional release to an LRA as set forth in 

RCW 71.09.092 is in the person's best interest and conditions can be 

imposed to adequately protect the community. RCW 71.09.060(1). DSHS 

must conduct an annual evaluation of the SVP' s mental condition to 

determine whether he continues to meet the statutory criteria for 

commitment. RCW 71.09.070. Unless the SVP waives his right to a 

hearing, the trial court must schedule a show cause hearing. 

RCW 71.09.090(2)(a). 

1 An SVP is defined as "any person who has been convicted of or charged with a 
crime of sexual violence and who suffers from a mental abnormality or personality 
disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if 
not confined in a secure facility." RCW 71.09.020(18). "Likely to engage ... " means that 
the person more probably than not will engage in such acts if unconditionally released. 
RCW 71.09.020(7). 
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The standard of proof at a show cause hearing is "probable cause." 

State v. McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d 369, 382, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012). While 

the probable cause standard is not a stringent one, it allows the court to 

perform a critical gate-keeping function: 

Under this standard, a court must assume the truth of the 
evidence presented; it may not 'weigh and measure asserted 
facts against potentially competing ones.' At the same time, 
the court can and must determine whether the asserted 
evidence, if believed, is sufficient to establish the 
proposition its proponent intends to prove. 

!d. (emphasis in original; internal citations omitted). 

The legislature specifically found that SVPs are extremely 

dangerous and their treatment needs are very long term, implying the 

statute contemplates a prolonged period of treatment. RCW 71.09.01 0; 

In re Detention of Petersen, 138 Wn.2d 70, 78, 980 P.2d 1204 (1999) 

(Petersen I). The statute involves indefinite commitment, "not a series of 

fixed one-year terms with continued commitment having to be justified 

beyond a reasonable doubt annually at evidentiary hearings where the 

State bears the burden of proof." !d. at 81 (emphasis in original). 

Consequently, the show cause hearing is "in the nature of a summary 

proceeding" consistent with the "Legislature's wish that judicial resources 

not be burdened annually with full evidentiary hearings" absent "at least 
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some showing of probable cause to believe such a hearing is necessary." 

!d. at 86. 

2. State's Prima Facie Burden of Proof 

At a show cause hearing, the State bears the burden to present 

prima facie evidence that the person continues to meet the definition of an 

SVP and that conditional release to a proposed LRA would not be 

appropriate. RCW 71.09.090(2); McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d at 380. The State 

may rely exclusively on the DSHS annual review to satisfy this burden. 

RCW 71.09.090(2)(b). If the State fails to meet its prima facie burden, 

there is probable cause to believe continued confinement is not warranted 

and the matter must be set for trial. RCW 71.09.090(2)(c); In re Detention 

of Petersen, 145 Wn.2d 789, 798, 42 P.3d 952 (2002) (Petersen II). 

3. SVP's Prima Facie Burden of Proof 

The second way probable cause for a new trial may be established 

is through the SVP's proof. Petersen II, 145 Wn.2d at 798. "Probable 

cause" as it pertains to the SVP's proof 1s defined m 

RCW 71.09.090(4)(a), which provides: 

Probable cause exists to believe that a person's condition 
has "so changed," under subsection (2) of this section, only 
when evidence exists, since the person's last 
commitment trial, or less restrictive alternative 
revocation proceeding, of a substantial change in the 
person's physical or mental condition such that the 
person either no longer meets the definition of a sexually 
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violent predator or that a conditional release to a less 
restrictive alternative is in the person's best interest and 
conditions can be imposed to adequately protect the 
community. 

(Emphasis added). Thus, the SVP must present evidence that he has "so 

changed" in order to obtain a new trial. See RCW 71.09.090(2)(c). 

However, RCW 71.09.090(4) requires the SVP to meet very 

specific criteria in order to satisfy the "so changed" requirement. The SVP 

must show that, since his last commitment trial or LRA revocation 

proceeding, there has been a "substantial change" in his condition due to 

either (1) a permanent physiological change that renders him unable to 

sexually reoffend; or (2) a change in mental condition brought about 

through "positive response to continuing participation in treatment[.]" 

RCW 71.09.090(4). If the SVP makes either required showing, there is 

probable cause to order a new trial. RCW 71.09.090(2)(c).2 

B. Marcum Cannot Show That He Has Changed Through 
"Continuing Participation In Treatment" Because He Refused 
to Participate in Any Treatment After His LRA Was Revoked. 

Marcum could not show that his condition has changed due to 

"continuing participation in treatment" because he has refused to 

participate in treatment since February 2011. The Court of Appeals 

2 The constitutionality of the amendment requmng either a permanent 
physiological change or a treatment-based change was upheld by this Court in 
McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d 369. 
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correctly determined that "probable cause" under RCW 71.09.090 

required Marcum to show he had changed through continuing 

participation in treatment since the trial court revoked his LRA in 

May 2011. See In re Detention of Marcum, 360 P.3d 888, 890-92 (2015). 

Because Marcum was unable to manage himself in a highly structured 

conditional release, the statute astutely requires him to show his condition 

has since improved due to treatment before he can claim readiness for 

unconditional release. The Court of Appeals decision was correct and this 

Court should deny review. 

1. Marcum Cannot Show a "Positive Response to 
Continuing Participation in Treatment" Because He 
Quit Treatment in 2011. 

The Court of Appeals correctly found that Marcum had not 

satisfied his burden. Marcum could not possibly show his mental 

condition had changed due to a "positive response to continuing 

participation in treatment" because he refused to participate in treatment 

since February 2011. See CP 23. As a result, "his elaboration of treatment 

concepts was less sophisticated than previously when he was active in 

treatment." CP 21. RCW 71.09.090(4)(b)(ii) unequivocally required 

Marcum to show his mental condition had changed through "continuing" 

participation in treatment. "Continuing" is defined as: 
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Enduring; not terminated by a single act or fact; subsisting 
for a definite period or intended to cover or apply to 
successive similar obligations or occurrences. 

Black's Law Dictionary at 291 (5th ed. 1979). Marcum's treatment was 

undisputedly "terminated" by Dr. Gollogly in 2011. Thereafter, Marcum 

refused to participate in any treatment. At the time of the annual review 

show cause hearing, Marcum had not been involved in any sex offender 

treatment for nearly three years. See CP 17, 23, 7 6-78. Thus, his treatment 

cannot be considered as "continuing" or "enduring" and the trial court 

correctly concluded that he failed to meet the statutory requirement for an 

unconditional release trial. 

2. The Plain Language of the Statute Defines "Probable 
Cause" as Requiring Evidence of a Substantial Change 
in the Person's Condition Since an LRA Revocation. 

The goal of statutory interpretation is to discern and implement the 

legislature's intent. State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 

156 P .3d 201 (2007). The Court looks first to the plain language; if it is 

unambiguous, the Court's inquiry is at an end. !d. Under rules of statutory 

interpretation, all language is given effect and plain language cannot be 

rendered meaningless or superfluous. In re Detention of Boynton, 

152 Wn. App. 442, 452-53, 216 P.3d 1089 (2009). Courts construe the 

statute as a whole, and each provision of the statute must be read in 

relation to the other provisions. !d. at 452. 
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The Court of Appeals accurately found that "probable cause" 

exists to believe a person's condition has "so changed" under 

RCW 71.09.090(2) only when evidence exists, "since the person's last 

commitment trial, or less restrictive alternative revocation proceeding, " 

of a substantial change in the person's condition. Marcum, 360 P.3d at 891 

citing RCW 71.09.090(4)(a).3 Thus, under the plain language of the 

statute, Marcum was required to present evidence of a "substantial 

change" in his condition since the court revoked his LRA in May 2011. 

And that evidence had to show a positive response to continuing 

participation in treatment. RCW 71.09.090(4)(b)(ii). Marcum could not 

produce such evidence because he refused to participate in any treatment 

since the revocation. See CP 17, 23. Consequently, his evidence of 

previous treatment gains, upon which his previous conditional release was 

based, was irrelevant. 

Courts should assume the legislature means exactly what it says. 

State v. Keller, 143 Wn.2d 267, 276, 19 P.3d 1030 (2001). Here, the 

phrase "only when evidence exists, since the person's last commitment 

trial, or less restrictive alternative proceeding" cannot be interpreted to 

mean anything but exactly what it says. See RCW 71.09.090(4)(a) 

3 The italicized language was added by the Laws of2009, ch. 409, § 8. Marcum, 
360 P.3d at 890. 
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(emphasis added). The statutory language is plain and unambiguous. 

The Court of Appeals correctly noted that the legislature has expressed 

quite clearly that an SVP who wants a new trial must show substantial 

change due to treatment since the last time a court formally reviewed the 

case. See Marcum, 360 P.3d at 891. "The 2009 amendment simply 

recognized that an LRA revocation might be the most recent occasion at 

which a court was assessing the detainee[.]" !d. 

As the Court of Appeals correctly explained, Marcum's 

interpretation would result in perpetual entitlement to a new trial each year 

once sufficient change to justifY the first request was shown. !d. His 

interpretation also reduces the incentive to continue to participate in 

treatment once an SVP obtains a trial. !d. This is not the intent of the 

statute, which is to address the "very long-term" needs of the SVP 

population for treatment and to ensure that the statutory focus remains on 

successful treatment participation. See McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d at 389-90. 

The Court of Appeals correctly noted that Marcum, having failed at the 

LRA, does not now obtain a "do over" by using the same initial evidence 

of change to obtain a new trial. Marcum, 360 P .3d at 891. 

Marcum argues that his expert, Dr. Spizman, opined that Marcum 

had changed "due to his successful participation in sex-offender specific 

treatment." Petition for Review (hereafter, Petition) at 12 citing CP 73-74. 
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However, at the cited pages, Dr. Spizman merely states that "while at the 

SCTF" Marcum was able to "maintain the solid gains he has made via 

treatment." CP 74 (emphasis added). Dr. Spizman then concludes that 

"Marcum has so changed, via his efforts in treatment, in conjunction with 

various other factors, that he no longer meets the definition of a Sexually 

Violent Predator." CP 74. This is a far cry from the standard required by 

the statute. 

When reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, the court must 

"look at the facts contained in the report to decide whether they support 

the expert's conclusions." See In re Detention of Jacobson, 

120 Wn. App. 770, 780, 86 P.3d 1202 (2004) (emphasis added). Mere 

conclusory statements by an expert do not establish probable cause. ld; 

see also McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d at 382 ("the court can and must 

determine whether the asserted evidence, if believed, is sufficient to 

establish" probable cause) (emphasis in original). Dr. Spizman fails to 

include any facts to support an opinion that Marcum's mental condition 

changed due to treatment since the LRA revocation. 

The Court of Appeals did not add requirements into the plain 

language of RCW 71.09.090(4)(b). See Petition at 8. 

RCW 71.09.090(4)(a) is a mandatory definition of "probable cause" that 
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applies to an SVP's evidence. RCW 71.09.090(4)(a).4 Therefore, it must 

apply to Marcum's evidence. RCW 71.09.090(4)(b), on the other hand, 

pertains more generally to the ordering of trials once probable cause has 

been established. 

Marcum's statutory interpretation would render 

RCW 71.09.090(4)(a) superfluous. If treatment evidence arising prior to 

LRA revocation is sufficient, then the revocation language would be 

superfluous. Any SVP who had been revoked from an LRA could argue 

that, under RCW 71.09.090(4)(b), he need only show he had changed 

since his commitment trial in order to obtain a new trial. As the Court of 

Appeals correctly noted, this interpretation reads the LRA revocation 

language right out of the statute in derogation of the Court's duty to give 

effect to all language found in legislation. See Marcum, 360 P.3d at 891. 

The Court of Appeals accurately explained that the legislature could have 

easily tied the LRA and commitment trial language to subsequent 

proceedings of the same variety, but did not. ld. Instead, the legislature 

tied that language to the "so changed" probable cause definition applicable 

4 "Probable cause exists to believe that a person's condition has 'so changed,' 
under subsection (2) of this section, only when evidence exists, since the person's last 
commitment trial, or less restrictive alternative revocation proceeding, of a substantial 
change in the person's physical or mental condition ... " RCW 71.09.090(4)(a) (emphasis 
added). 
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to both proceedings. !d. The Court of Appeals correctly followed the plain 

language of the statute and there is no basis for review. 

3. Marcum Misapplies Jones, Which Was Decided Before 
the Legislature Added the Phrase "Or Less 
Restrictive Alternative Revocation Proceeding" to 
RCW 71.09.090(4)(a). 

Marcum argues that this Court should accept review because the 

Court of Appeals decision "is contrary to the reasonable construction of 

the same language in Jones". Petition at 12. Marcum misapplies Jones. 

The legislature added the statutory language at issue in this case after 

Jones was decided. Thus, the Court of Appeals decision in Marcum is not 

in conflict with Jones, and there is no basis for this Court to accept review 

under RAP 13.4(b). 

Marcum argues that the Jones Court rejected the State's argument 

that change must be established from any LRA revocation (as opposed to 

from the initial commitment trial). See Petition at 9. Marcum's reliance on 

this case is misleading and inappropriate. At the time of the Jones 

decision, RCW 71.09.090( 4)(a) did not include the phrase "or less 

restrictive alternative revocation proceeding" and the State broadly 

construed "commitment trial proceeding" as including an LRA revocation 

hearing. See Jones, 149 Wn. App. at 30. The Jones Court rejected this 

broad interpretation of "commitment trial proceeding." !d. Subsequent to 
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Jones, the legislature amended RCW 71.09.090(4)(a) to require a change 

"since the person's last commitment trial, or less restrictive alternative 

revocation proceeding". RCW 71.09.090(4)(a) (emphasis added). 5 Thus, 

Marcum's reliance on Jones as a basis for this Court to accept review is 

misplaced. This Court should deny review. 

C. The State Presented Prima Facie Evidence That Marcum's 
Mental Condition Makes Him Likely to Sexually Reoffend. 

Marcum argues that the State failed to present prima facie evidence 

that his mental condition makes him likely to reoffend if unconditionally 

released.6 First, Marcum fails to identify or articulate any basis for review 

under RAP 13 .4(b ). A review of RAP 13 .4(b) reveals there is none. Thus, 

this Court should deny review. Second, Marcum's argument is without 

merit. Actuarial assessment is but one component of an evaluator's overall 

risk assessment. Marcum's argument is based on the incorrect 

presumption that actuarial assessment alone must show recidivism rates 

over 50 percent. See Petition at 16-17. 

5 Jones was published on February 23, 2009. The legislature added the LRA 
revocation language effective May 7, 2009. Laws of2009, ch. 409, § 8. 

6 The Court of Appeals did not address this issue in its published decision. 
See Marcum, 360 P.3d 888. Presumably, the Court of Appeals granted the motion to 
modify the Commissioner's ruling on the sole issue addressed in the opinion. If this 
Court finds that the Court of Appeals should have also expressly addressed whether the 
State presented prima facie evidence that Marcum's mental condition made him likely to 
reoffend, it should remand the case to the Court of Appeals to issue an opinion on this 
issue. 
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Dr. Harrington conducted a comprehensive risk assessment and 

ultimately opined that Marcum continues to meet the definition of an SVP 

because "his present mental condition still includes the predisposition for 

sexually violent behavior" that makes him likely to sexually reoffend. 

CP 24. Marcum disregards this opinion solely because results of an 

actuarial test showed his score was associated with group recidivism rates 

under fifty percent. From that basis alone, Marcum argues the State failed 

to make a prima facie case that he was "likely" to reoffend. See Petition 

at 16-17. However, Dr. Harrington considered a broad range of 

information as part of her risk analysis. The trial court was not permitted 

to weigh the evidence, but rather must assume the truth of the evidence 

presented and determine if the conclusions are supported by the facts. 

See McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d at 382. 

As Dr. Harrington noted, actuarial instruments generally 

underestimate actual sexual offense risk over a lifetime because of a 

variety of factors. CP 1 7. The instruments do not measure unreported or 

unprosecuted sex offenses, they do not incorporate all primary risk factors 

for reoffense, and they involve only a limited time period. CP 17. 

Actuarial instruments have limited applicability in SVP cases because of 

their small sample sizes and a variety of predictive shortcomings. In re 

Detention of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 753, 72 P.3d 708 (2003); see also 
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In re Detention of Lewis, 134 Wn. App. 896, 906, 143 P.3d 833 (2006) 

(actuarial instruments underestimate risk because they only measure 

convictions). The SVP act does not limit experts to results of actuarial 

tests7 and does not require the State to show that the SVP will reoffend in 

the "foreseeable future." In re Detention of Moore, 167 Wn.2d 113, 125, 

216 P .3d 1015 (2009); In re Pers. Restraint of Meirhofer, 182 Wn.2d 632, 

645, 343 P.3d 731 (2015) ("we never found that [actuarial instruments] 

were better evidence than clinical judgment" and experts may rely on 

static and dynamic risk factors and their own clinical judgment). 

Dr. Harrington relied on a broad range of information to support 

her conclusion that Marcum continued to meet SVP criteria. CP 16. She

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